
1 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
MONTHLY MEETING 

 
Thursday, September 18, 2025 

Riverfront Library 
 

  



2 
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 

a. Agenda           3 

b. Minutes of July 17, 2025 Meeting      5 

c. Bill List: Schedule #878 (July)       9 

d. Bill List: Schedule #879 (August)      22 

e. Management Report         33 

f. Circulation          35 

g. Electronic Resources        39 

h. Book Stock          40 

i. Alcohol Use Authorization Form: Friends of Crestwood   

 Library Author Talk        42 

j. Assurances and Authentications of Application for State    

 Aid for Library Construction: Crestwood Library   

 Accessibility Improvement Project (0386-26-1745)    

 and Will Library Auditorium Renovations Project   

 (0386-26-1784)        44 

k. Education Law §273-a, Commissioner’s Regulation §90.12 48  



3 
 

YONKERS PUBLIC LIBRARY 
AGENDA FOR BOARD MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 18, 2025 
RIVERFRONT LIBRARY 

 

MINUTES   
 

[ACTION ITEM] Approve Minutes of Meeting on July 17, 2025  
 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 

UNION REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT  
  
 
PERSONNEL REPORT 
 

[ACTION ITEM] 
Ratify the following appointments: 

Gonzalez, Kayla; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 7/5/2025 
Montiel, Michelle; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 7/18/2025 
Friloux, River; Junior Clerk (P/T), $20.00/hour, eff. 7/26/2025 
Kay, Madison; Page (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 8/2/2025 
Bermeo, Daisy; Page (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 8/2/2025 
Wissman, Nancy; Provisional Librarian II (P/T), $25.35/hour, eff. 8/15/2025 
Sydnor, Aaliyah; Page (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 9/5/2025 
Goncalves, Zoe; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 9/6/2025 

 
Acknowledge the following terminations: 

Siegel, Pamela; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hour, eff. 7/15/2025 
Moudud, Aliya; Junior Clerk (P/T), $20.00/hr, eff. 7/25/2025 
Guzman, Randy; Page (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 7/25/2025 
Marte, Saredys; Page (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 9/13/2025  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

Finance, Budget and Planning - Treasurer Puglia (chair), Trustee Jannetti  
 

Policy - Trustees Sabatino (chair), Jannetti, Edoziem  
 

Employee Relations - Vice President Daily (chair), Trustee Sabatino  
 

Buildings and Grounds - Vice President Daily (chair), Trustees Sabatino, Puglia  
 

Outreach - Trustees Edoziem (chair), Jannetti  
 

Fundraising & Development - Vice President Daily (chair) 
 Foundation Update  



4 
 

  

 
WLS REPORT 
 

RATIFY PAYMENT OF BILLS 
 

[ACTION ITEM]  Schedule #878 & #879 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

[ACTION ITEM] Authorize Service of Alcohol at Author Talk Event hosted by Friends of 
Crestwood Library at Crestwood Library on October 15, 2025.  

 
[ACTION ITEM] Adopt Assurances and Authentications of Applications for State Aid for Library 
Construction in accordance with Education Law § 273-a and Commissioner’s Regulation § 90.12: 
Crestwood Library Accessibility Improvement Project (0386-26-1745) and Will Library 
Auditorium Renovations Project (0386-26-1784)  

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

NEXT MEETING DATE 
 
 Thursday, October 16, 2025 at 7:00pm at a location to be determined 

 
 

  



5 
 

YONKERS PUBLIC LIBRARY 
MONTHLY MEETING 

RIVERFRONT LIBRARY 
JULY 17, 2025 

 
ATTENDANCE 
 

    TRUSTEES: John Daily Jr. 
Joseph Puglia 
Michael Sabatino 
Patricia Phelan 
 

    LIBRARY DIRECTOR: 
 
    ASSISTANT LIBRARY DIRECTOR: 
 
    BUSINESS MANAGER:                                                                      

Jesse Montero 
 
NONE 
 
Vivian Presedo 

  
    ADMINISTRATIVE SECRETARY: James Hackett 
 
    WLS BOARD REPRESENTATIVE: 

 
Patricia Phelan 

      
    UNION REPRESENTATIVE: 
 

GUESTS: 
 
   

Brandon Neider 
 
Mary Robison, Tara Somersall, Patricia 
Ricardo-Ortiz, Z. Baird, Elizabeth 
Caruso 

 
The Board Meeting began at 7:00 pm. 
 
 
MINUTES 
 
On motion of Trustee Puglia, seconded by Trustee Phelan and unanimously carried, the Board 
approved the Minutes of the Meeting of June 16, 2025. 
 
 
MANAGEMENT REPORT  
 

Director Montero announced that Z. Baird, Branch Administrator of Crestwood Library, was 
recognized by the East Yonkers Kiwanis Club on June 16 with the Everyday Hero Award. The 
Kiwanis Club cited achievements such as her mentorship and leadership in the community 
and collaboration with other community organizations such as the Friends of Crestwood 
Library and the Crestwood Historical Society. The Board congratulated Ms. Baird for the 
award. 
 
Director Montero reported that YPL was awarded a $200,000 Local Community Assistance 
Program (LOCAP) grant from New York State to repave the Will Library parking lot. The project 
is expected to begin in mid-2026 following the completion of the chiller project and the winter. 



6 
 

Director Montero thanked Senator Shelley Mayer, whose sponsorship was instrumental in 
securing the funds.  
 
Director Montero updated the Board on the status of the chiller project at Will. Since the 
commencement of trenching and demolition of the parking lot and sidewalks and the 
discovery of an unforeseen drainage pipe in the spring, the project has progressed well under 
the guidance of the City of Yonkers Engineering Department. Delivery of the new chillers are 
expected next week and the parking lot and sidewalks will be restored following the chiller 
installation and testing, which is expected sometime in September. The arrival and installation 
of the electrical switchgear, however, is expected to take longer. Director Montero will keep 
the Board apprised of the project as it progresses.  
 
Director Montero presented a new mural in the children’s department at Riverfront Library. 
The new mural, by Victor Alexander St. Hillaire (VASH), is a depiction of downtown Yonkers 
as a colorful, joyful and vibrant community. VASH completed the mural over the span of 
several days in full view of the public, which Director Montero believed made the experience 
more special for children. The mural was funded by the New York State Council for the Arts 
(NYSCA) grant and a ribbon-cutting ceremony with Mayor Spano is expected next week. 
 
Director Montero reported that YPL contracted with Adaptive Signage to produce and install 
signage at Riverfront for its inclusive wayfinding project. The project, funded by the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), is the result of a study commissioned by 
Steven Winter and Associates last year and includes strategies for making the building more 
accessible and easy to navigate. Signage includes restroom signs and directories, vinyl 
wrapping and a feature wall for the Sensory Room. Director Montero added that staff have 
already noted fewer directional questions from patrons as a result of the improvements. 
 
Director Montero announced that YPL received a $5,000 grant from the New York Community 
Trust as a result of an anonymous recommendation. Director Montero believes this is the first 
such anonymous recommendation in the organization’s history and reflects YPL’s growing 
visibility among donors and grantmakers. 
 
 

GUEST SPEAKER 
 

Mary Robison, Head of Reference & Adult Services at Riverfront and lead for YPL’s local history 
and archives team, presented an update on the system’s history and archive work. Ms. 
Robison described the system-wide team’s structure and growth in programs and outreach—
especially genealogy sessions, field trips, and partnerships with Sarah Lawrence College and 
regional cultural organizations—which have increased engagement and visibility, including 
recent conference presentations. She also reported progress on collection digitization, World 
War II oral histories, scanning Yonkers City Council minutes, and new online collections 
documenting African American, Assyrian and LGBTQ+ histories. She also noted recent grants 
from METRO for collection digitization and from DHPSNY for an archives assessment. Going 
forward, she previewed programming on Revolutionary Westchester, a John Edward Bruce 
documentary, processing a major donation of African American history titles and supporting 
the Crestwood Library’s upcoming centennial celebration next year. 
 
  



7 
 

UNION REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT   
 

NONE 
 

 
PERSONNEL REPORT  
 
On motion of Trustee Sabatino, seconded by Trustee Puglia and unanimously carried, the Board 
ratified the following appointments: 

Hill, Reginald; Temporary Building Custodian I, $71,824.00/yr, eff. 6/3/2025 
Leone, Jacqueline; Permanent Librarian I, $62,281.00/yr, eff. 7/4/2025 
Akoto, Shanelle; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 6/28/2025 
Villanueva, Harrison; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 6/26/205 
 
Acknowledge the following terminations: 
Azarcon, Emma; Librarian II (P/T), $25.35/hr, eff. 6/11/2025 
Hickey, Douglas; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 6/11/2025 
Keefe, Olivia; Junior Clerk (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 6/11/2025 
Grullon, Arkenny; Page (P/T), $16.50/hr, eff. 7/4/2025  

 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
  

Policy - Trustees Sabatino (chair), Jannetti, Edoziem  
 
Director Montero reported to the committee that he completed the Workplace Violence 
Prevention Policy and Program and would propose it to the Board later in the meeting. 
 

 
WLS REPORT 
 

Trustee Phelan reported that the WLS Board will not meet in July and August and had no 
formal report to make. 
 
 

PAYMENT OF BILLS  
 
On motion of Trustee Phelan, seconded by Trustee Sabatino and unanimously carried, the Board 
approved payment of bills as listed on Schedule #877. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

The Board discussed the proposed Workplace Violence Prevention Policy and Program. 
Director Montero outlined next steps and an implementation of the policy and program, 
including staff training through the library’s insurance carrier, a request to the Yonkers Office 
of Emergency Management for a safety audit, exploration of quicker communication with 
security from public service desks, standardized incident reporting and a review of security 
camera placements. He added that the policy would be reviewed annually. Director Montero 



8 
 

also went on to describe a recent incident at Riverfront where a patron reported seeing 
another patron in possession of a firearm. The incident received a significant police response, 
as well as local media coverage, but only a hammer was discovered after police investigated. 
Director Montero and the Board discussed communication strategies with the staff and public 
that focus on de-escalation and proper reporting.  
 

On motion of Trustee Puglia, seconded by Trustee Phelan and unanimously carried, the Board 
approved the Workplace Violence Prevention Policy and Program. 

 
 

NEXT MEETING DATE 
 
 Thursday, September 18, 2025 at 7:00pm at Riverfront Library 
 
 
On motion of Trustee Sabatino, seconded by Trustee Phelan and unanimously carried, the Board 
adjourned the Meeting at  7:48pm. 
 
 
 
 
Jesse Montero 
Library Director & Secretary 
  



9 
 

YPL Operating Budget FY2025 (June)        
Final Update 

Adopted 
Budget 

Current 
Budget (w/ 
transfers) 

Spent 
Previous 
Month 

Spent This 
Month 
(June) YTD Balance % used 

Code Account Name 

  
101 Salaries 7,210,217 7,210,217 6,039,489 719,884 6,759,373 450,845 93.75% 
103 Temp Services 602,800 602,800 486,303 59,254 545,557 57,243 90.50% 
150 Termination Payments 35,000 35,000 27,110 0 27,110 7,890 77.46% 
198 Overtime 300,372 300,372 250,616 36,131 286,747 13,625 95.46% 
  Personal Services Total: 8,148,389 8,148,389 6,803,518 815,269 7,618,787 529,602 93.50% 
                  
280 Reference Materials 83,000 83,000 47,457 0 47,457 35,543 57.18% 
281 Books 450,000 450,000 268,754 87,168 355,922 94,078 79.09% 
  Materials Total 533,000 533,000 316,211 87,168 403,379 129,621 75.68% 
                  
301 Office Supplies 100660 100660 64255 17,411 81,666 18,994 81.13% 
306 Janitorial Supplies 36550 49550 36317 8090 44,407 5,143 89.62% 
308 Wearing Apparel 6,950 6,950 5,946 0 5,946 1,004 85.55% 
309 Fuel For Heating 78,250 42,550 22,096 -30 22,066 20,484 51.86% 
312 Hardware 10,200 10,200 8,351 605 8,956 1,244 87.80% 
313 Misc. Supplies 1,000 1,000 478 0 478 522 47.80% 
314 Electrical Supplies 300 300 250 0 250 50 83.33% 
327 Nursery Supplies 400 400 400 0 400 0 100.00% 
361 Gas 2,000 2,000 1,496 504 2,000 0 99.99% 
  Material and Supplies Total 236,310 213,610 139,589 26,579 166,168 47,442 77.79% 
                  
401 Insurance 120,355 120,355 76,626 0 76,626 43,729 63.67% 
402 Telephones 64,000 64,000 50,629 6,449 57,078 6,922 89.18% 
403 Printing 18,310 18,310 15,852 38 15,890 2,420 86.79% 
404 Lights and Power 170,000 160,000 114,516 32,281 146,797 13,203 91.75% 
405 Postage 3,100 3,100 2,002 0 2,002 1,098 64.58% 
406 Freight and Express 500 500 37 0 37 463 7.40% 
407 Equipment Maint. And Repair 49,460 49,460 29,311 7,998 37,309 12,151 75.43% 
408 Rental of Equipment 174,987 174,987 83,095 24,836 107,931 67,056 61.68% 
409 Building Maint. And Repair 85,000 85,000 42,877 3,696 46,573 38,427 54.79% 
410 Milage Allowance 685 685 625 0 625 60 91.24% 
413 Professional Fees 256,000 262,000 137,926 30,984 168,910 93,090 64.47% 
415 Outside Labor & Related Charges 350,000 358,700 201,960 30,135 232,095 126,605 64.70% 
419 Misc. Expenses 37,750 37,750 25,801 5,896 31,697 6,053 83.97% 
421 Rent   Riverfront 750,000 750,000 750,000 0 750,000 0 100.00% 
422 Janitorial Service 2,900 2,900 1,590 0 1,590 1,310 54.83% 
424 Maint. Of Office Equipment 4,600 4,600 3,219 206 3,425 1,175 74.46% 
425 Subscriptions and Publicationns 159,680 159,680 120,278 7,740 128,018 31,662 80.17% 
430 IT Hardware Maint. 53,000 71,000 31,488 9,089 40,577 30,423 57.15% 
431 IT Software Licensing and Maint. 477,750 477,750 414,010 33,315 447,325 30,425 93.63% 
436 Tuition/Bd/Travel Reimbursement 10,000 10,000 3,241 2,994 6,235 3,765 62.35% 
446 Automobile Repair 6,000 6,000 1,838 1,559 3,397 2,603 56.61% 
481 Binding of Books 500 500 12 0 12 488 2.40% 
496 Special Projects 31,250 31,250 23,482 2,866 26,348 4,902 84.31% 
  Contractual Services Total 2,825,827 2,848,527 2,130,415 200,082 2,330,497 518,030 81.81% 
                  
  Total Operating Budget 11,743,526 11,743,526 9,389,733 1,129,099 10,518,832 1,224,694 89.57% 

  



10 
 

SCHEDULE: 878 

Yonkers Public Library 
 Bill List July 2025  

Vendor Name 

CONTRIBUTIONS FUNDS 

 Description    Date       Amount 

AKROUSH, SAMER ARTIST IN RESIDENCE: SERV RENDERED 7/9/2025 1,750.00 
AKROUSH, SAMER ARTIST IN RESIDENCE: SERV RENDERED 7/3/2025 1,750.00 
AMERICAN EXPRESS MISC EXP: JULY INVOICE 7/28/2025 40.71 
AMERICAN EXPRESS MISC EXP: JUNE INVOICE 7/28/2025 138.48 
AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NAT HIST MEMBERSHIP:PREMIUM VOUCHERS (100) 7/23/2025 1,000.00 
BLICK ART MATERIALS SUPPLIES: MISC ART 7/9/2025 514.83 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST BOOKS 7/30/2025 14.38 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST BOOKS 7/3/2025 26.98 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST BOOKS 7/9/2025 28.97 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST BOOKS 7/3/2025 77.90 
FRADELI'S BOARD MEETING: 7/17/2025 7/23/2025 171.25 
FUSCO, EILEEN REIMB EXP: ALA CONFERENCE 7/16/2025 44.06 
GIBBONS FAMILY FITNESS PROG: SENIOR FITNESS CLASSES 7/9/2025 380.00 
GOVCONNECTION, INC. PUBLIC PRINTING: TONER 7/9/2025 1,338.04 
HAWKINS, SARAH PROG: HOMEWORK HELPER 7/3/2025 135.00 
LEDESMA, SOLYARIS PROG: ZUMBA CLASSES VIA ZOOM 7/30/2025 375.00 
MARANO, MATTHEW PROG: ITALIAN ART SONGS CLASS 7/8/2025 300.00 
MARKOWITZ, ROBERT PROG: CHILDRE'S MUSICAL 7/23/2025 450.00 
RICARDO-ORTIZ, PATRICIA REIMB EXP: ALA  CONFERENCE 7/16/2025 29.73 
W. B. MASON CO., INC. PUBLIC PRINTING: PAPER 7/16/2025 377.20 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: CDBG 

  8,942.53 

AMERICAN EXPRESS MISC EXP: JULY INVOICE 7/29/2025 1,660.00 
DISPLAYS2GO SIGN HOLDERS & POSTER FRAME 7/25/2025 4,344.08 
SIGN DESIGN & JC AWNING STAFF RESTROOM SIGN 7/25/2025 155.28 
SIGN DESIGN & JC AWNING DIGITAL PRINTING MEDIA 7/25/2025 5,382.08 
SIGN DESIGN & JC AWNING COMPOSITION SIGNS 7/25/2025 5,602.95 
TOTAL   17,144.39 
 
GRANTS FUNDS: CON EDISON 
BAIRD, ZAHRA M. REIMB EXP: PURIFIER PROGRAM 7/23/2025 185.70 
GROUNDWORK HUDSON VALLEY SERVICES RENDERED: GREEN TEAM 7/16/2025 8,000.00 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: NYSCA 

  8,185.70 

BLICK ART MATERIALS SUPPLIES: MISC ART 7/25/2025 307.61 
FRANCO, VALERIE PROG: COLOR IN ART LECTURE ZOOM 7/25/2025 150.00 
GRIGG, EDDIE PROG: ART INSPIRES WELLNESS 7/23/2025 300.00 
LIVING ARTS VILLAGE PROG: STORYTIME: TATIS SABRINA 7/25/2025 200.00 
SAINT-HILAIRE, VICTOR A. PROG: CHILDREN'S ART MURAL PART I 7/3/2025 2,500.00 
SAINT-HILAIRE, VICTOR A. PROG: CHILDREN'S ART MURAL PART II 7/9/2025 2,500.00 



11 
 

TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: WCBL 

  5,957.61 

FORM FITNESS & THERAPEUTICS PROG: WELLNESS 2 INVOICES 7/23/2025 300.00 
TOTAL   300.00 

 
GRANTS FUNDS:PRESBYTERIAN 
CHAN, YAO WAH PROG: TAI CHI CLASSES 7/9/2025 375.00 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS:WESTCHESTER 

 375.00 

BLICK ART MATERIALS PROG: MATERIALS 7/30/2025 78.38 
RONG, JIAN-YANG PROG: ZOOM QI GONG CLASESS 7/16/2025 150.00 
TOTAL  228.38 

  



12 
 

  



13 
 

  



14 
 

  



15 
 

  



16 
 

  



17 
 

  



18 
 

  



19 
 

  



20 
 

  



21 
 

  



22 
 

SCHEDULE: 879 

Yonkers Public Library 

Bill List August 2025 

Vendor Name 

CONTRIBUTIONS FUNDS 

Description    Date       Amount 

BAIRD, ZAHAR M. REIMB EXP: MUSEUM ENTRY FEES 8/26/2025 108.00 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST BOOK 8/20/2025 6.00 
CITY OF YONKERS FINES & FEES: LOST BOOK 8/13/2025 16.99 
CITY OF YONKERS FEES & FINES: LOST ITEMS 8/6/2025 18.00 
CLIFTON, MICHELLE PROG: SOUND MEDITATION SESSION 8/27/2025 100.00 
FUSCO, AILEEN REIMB EXP: STAFF BREAKFAST 8/6/2025 24.00 
SAINT-HILAIRE, VICTOR A. MURAL WORKSHOP 2 HOURS 8/6/2025 300.00 
ST GEORGE LIVING HISTORY PROD PROG: SINATRA-A MAN AND HIS MOVIES 8/13/2025 225.00 
TRACSYSTEMS S-LINK AVS REPLACEMENT ILINK BOARD 8/13/2025 688.64 
TRACSYSTEMS RENEWAL: LICENSE & SUBSCRIPTION 8/26/2025 14,399.74 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: ARTS WEST 

  15,886.37 

BLICK'ART MATERIALS MATERIALS: ARTS 8/27/2025 89.71 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: CDBG 

  89.71 

SIGN DESIGN & JC AWNING MATERIALS: MESH BANNERS 8/8/2025 433.69 
TOTAL 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: FOUNDATION 

  433.69 

PBC GURU PROG:ANNUAL SPEAKERS CONSORTIUM 8/27/2025 6,900.00 
TOTAL   6,900.00 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: MARY J BLIGE 
PORTEUS, SHAUNA REIMB EXP: PARTICIPANTS GIFTS 8/6/2025 458.84 
TOTAL  458.84 

 
GRANTS FUNDS: NYSCA 
AMERICAN EXPRESS MISC EXPENSES: LIBRARY PASSES 8/20/2025 531.75 
FRANCO, VALERIE PROG: LEONORA CARRINGTON LECTURE 8/26/2025 300.00 
TOTAL 

GRANTS FUNDS: SED 

  831.75 

WAYNE'S ELECTRIC SERVICE SERV RENDERED: OPENED LIGHT FIXT 8/28/2025 1,375.00 
WAYNE'S ELECTRIC SERVICE SERV RENDERED: REMOVAL LIGHT FIXT 8/28/2025 4,950.00 
WAYNE'S ELECTRIC SERVICE SERV RENDERED: REMOVAL LIGHT FIXT 8/28/2025 4,950.00 
TOTAL 

GRANTS FUNDS: WCBOL 

  11,275.00 

AYALA, CHENIA PROG: ZUMBA KIDS 8/20/2025 150.00 



23 
 

AYALA, CHENIA PROG: ZUMBA KIDS 8/13/2025 300.00 
CHAN, YAO WAH PROG: TAICHI CLASSES ON MONDAYS 8/6/2025 300.00 
FEDYK, ELAINE PROG: WORKOUT WITH COACH ELAINE 8/27/2025 800.00 
GIBBONS FAMILY FITNESS PROG: ZOOM ZUMBA 8/27/2025 225.00 
LEDESMA, SOLYARIS PROG: ZOOM ZUMBA 8/27/2025 75.00 
PROJECTME, LLC PROG: POSITIVE PSYCHOLOGY READING 8/27/2025 300.00 
REILLY, SHANNON PROG: YIN YOGA ZOOM 8/27/2025 50.00 
RONG, JIAN-YANG PROG: ZYMBA Q1 GONG CLASSES 8/13/2025 150.00 
WALKER, CYNTHIA PROG: KATORI'S LITTLE SHAKERS 8/13/2025 175.00 
TOTAL   2,525.00 

 

  



24 
 

  



25 
 

  



26 
 

  



27 
 

  



28 
 

  



29 
 

  



30 
 

  



31 
 

  



32 
 

  



33 
 

Yonkers Public Library (YPL) Board of Trustees Meeting 
Management Report 
September 18, 2025 

 
Summer Reading Buddies: YPL once again partnered with Family Services Society of Yonkers 
(FSSY) to host the award-winning Summer Reading Buddies program. From an attendance 
perspective it was the largest year ever, hosting 416 students and 117 volunteers. Partners 
including WJCS, Family Services of Westchester and Primerica provided valuable tools and 
resources to parents and caregivers. As always, the program hosted notable guests, including 
New York State Senate Majority Leader Andrea Stewart-Cousins, U.S. Congressman George 
Latimer, and New York State Assemblyman Nader Sayegh. A survey of participating families 
reported almost universally positive results, including increased interest (96%), confidence 
(98%), fluency and comprehension (96%). Almost all participants also completed their school 
summer reading assignments. The program’s implementation was extremely smooth, thanks to 
the collaborative efforts of the Riverfront administration, children’s department and custodial 
department. 
 
State Library Construction Aid Grant Applications: Over the summer, YPL submitted 
applications for State Aid for Library Construction grants to Westchester Library System 
(WLS), which reviews and recommends applications for awards from the New York State 
Library. It requested $232,932 to supplement the $1 million in capital funding from the City of 
Yonkers FY26 budget for Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) upgrades at Crestwood 
Library. It also requested $663,384 for renovations to the Will Library’s Joan Pincus 
auditorium, to supplement the $3,629,587 in the FY26 capital budget for Will Library 
Renovations. This is the first time YPL has submitted requests for state construction aid for 
two locations in a single year. Trustees will be asked to ratify the assurances and 
authentications requirement in order to finalize the applications. 
 
Will Library Chiller/Switchgear Replacement Project Update: Work on the Will Library chiller 
replacement continued throughout the Summer. To date, the contractors have: removed old 
pumps and piping and installed: new electrical panels; insulated chilled water piping; electrical 
systems to serve the chillers; and a new housekeeping pad and privacy fence for the chillers. 
Remaining work includes commissioning the three air cooled chillers to serve the existing 
building, commissioning the building management system (BMS), and replacing the existing 
electrical switchgear that serves the building. The project continues to be overseen by the City 
of Yonkers Engineering Department. 
 
Baldwin Institute Grant: Over the summer, former YPL Artist-In-Residence Samer Akroush 
(AKA “Ridikkuluz”) hosted a series of painting workshops for twelve young adults entitled “The 
Keys for Painting.” Under Ridikkuluz’s guidance, they experimented with color, explored new 
techniques, and discovered the power of art as self-expression. This is the first grant program 
funded by the Baldwin Institute at YPL. 
 
Nutritional Services: YPL once again collaborated with the Yonkers Public Schools’ Food 
Services team to provide meals throughout the summer at Riverfront Library (breakfasts and 
lunches) and Will Library (library). Between both sites, 12,349 meals were distributed to library 
visitors. Furthermore, Riverfront Library Children’s Department Head Oz Coto-Chang was 



34 
 

trained on Feeding Westchester’s Retail Recovery Program. By completing this training, YPL is 
now allowed to accept food and other items from participating Retail Recovery partners like 
ShopRite, Stop and Shop, and CostCo. Collectively, this establishes the library as an important 
way for its patrons to access food during a time of rising food insecurity.  
 
Summer Reading Exceeds 25,000 Challenge Goal: The Summer Reading Challenge 2025 was 
a resounding success, exceeding our goal of 25,000 books read throughout the summer and 
far surpassing both the 2024 Summer Reading Challenge and this year’s Winter Reading 
Warmup. Registrations reached an all-time high of 1,956, more than double last summer’s 649 
and nearly 100% higher than the winter reading challenge at 1,136. Active readers climbed to 
1,559, a remarkable 437% increase over Summer 2024 and 87% increase from winter. Most 
impressively, participants logged 26,634 books read, tripling last year’s summer total and 
exceeding winter by 83%. This achievement reflects not only the creativity and dedication of 
our staff in designing fun and engaging programs, but also the outstanding partnership 
between the City of Yonkers and Yonkers Public School district. As part of this collaboration, 
staff worked closely with the head of the school library district to create a simple, user-friendly 
submission form so teachers could record the number of books read by their incoming classes 
over the summer. To further encourage participation, the school with the highest total will be 
awarded a traveling trophy to display until next year’s competition. Together, these efforts 
amplified outreach, sparked excitement, and transformed the challenge into a true citywide 
celebration of reading. 
  



35 
 

  

Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25

Present 12 Month Period 56867 59169 56237 54737 60109 56026 62171 56860 58313 58325 66558 64610

Previous 12 Month Period 52157 53082 51779 52302 57416 56629 58896 56883 54080 54633 64230 64276

9.0% 11.5% 8.6% 4.7% 4.7% -1.1% 5.6% 0.0% 7.8% 6.8% 3.6% 0.5%

Aug-24 Aug-25 Aug-24 Aug-25
_audiobook 313 247 -66 -21.1% 0.5% 0.4%
_biography 619 453 -166 -26.8% 1.0% 0.7%
_express 237 172 -65 -27.4% 0.4% 0.3%
_fiction 6674 6085 -589 -8.8% 10.4% 9.4%
_foreign_lang 393 344 -49 -12.5% 0.6% 0.5%
_juv_audiobook 96 80 -16 -16.7% 0.1% 0.1%
_juv_fiction 16947 16637 -310 -1.8% 26.4% 25.7%
_juv_foreign 540 573 33 6.1% 0.8% 0.9%
_juv_movie 1187 1009 -178 -15.0% 1.8% 1.6%
_juv_nonfiction 2928 2095 -833 -28.4% 4.6% 3.2%
_magazine 107 114 7 6.5% 0.2% 0.2%
_movie 5821 4528 -1293 -22.2% 9.1% 7.0%
_music 1846 1425 -421 -22.8% 2.9% 2.2%
_new_book 2301 2515 214 9.3% 3.6% 3.9%
_nonfiction 4419 3896 -523 -11.8% 6.9% 6.0%
_ya_av 298 247 -51 -17.1% 0.5% 0.4%
_ya_fiction 2410 1986 -424 -17.6% 3.7% 3.1%
_ya_nonfiction 385 263 -122 -31.7% 0.6% 0.4%
_Electronic Content Use 16155 21432 5277 32.7% 25.1% 33.2% 8.0%_Electronic Content Use

-1.0%
-0.1%

-0.1%
-0.7%
-0.2%

0.0%
-0.6%
0.0%
-0.3%
-1.3%
0.0%
-2.0%
-0.7%
0.3%

-0.8%
_new_book
_nonfiction
_ya_av
_ya_fiction
_ya_nonfiction

_juv_movie
_juv_nonfiction
_magazine
_movie
_music

_fiction
_foreign_lang
_juv_audiobook
_juv_fiction
_juv_foreign

CIRCULATION SUMMARY
YONKERS PUBLIC LIBRARY

_audiobook
_biography
_express

Circulation Profile:
-0.1%
-0.3%
-0.1%

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25

Present 12 Month Period Previous 12 Month Period



36 
 

 

  

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug
Present 12 Month Period 12953 13105 11808 10677 12277 11645 13854 11689 11897 12666 15238 13481
Previous 12 Month Period 11546 11604 11358 11499 12004 12596 13584 12493 12782 12836 15984 16041

12.2% 12.9% 4.0% -7.1% 2.3% -7.6% 2.0% -6.4% -6.9% -1.3% -4.7% -16.0%

Aug-24 Aug-25 Aug-24 Aug-25
_audiobook 48 45 -3 -6.3% 0.3% 0.3%
_biography 131 96 -35 -26.7% 0.8% 0.7%
_express 153 111 -42 -27.5% 1.0% 0.8%
_fiction 1391 1162 -229 -16.5% 8.7% 8.6%
_foreign_lang 238 220 -18 -7.6% 1.5% 1.6%
_juv_audiobook 14 17 3 21.4% 0.1% 0.1%
_juv_fiction 5761 5785 24 0.4% 35.9% 42.9%
_juv_foreign 392 392 0 0.0% 2.4% 2.9%
_juv_movie 349 300 -49 -14.0% 2.2% 2.2%
_juv_nonfiction 888 694 -194 -21.8% 5.5% 5.1%
_magazine 4 1 -3 -75.0% 0.0% 0.0%
_movie 2321 1376 -945 -40.7% 14.5% 10.2%
_music 754 339 -415 -55.0% 4.7% 2.5%
_new_book 385 398 13 3.4% 2.4% 3.0%
_nonfiction 1088 950 -138 -12.7% 6.8% 7.0%
_ya_av 168 167 -1 -0.6% 1.0% 1.2%
_ya_fiction 1386 996 -390 -28.1% 8.6% 7.4%
_ya_nonfiction 123 74 -49 -39.8% 0.8% 0.5%

CIRCULATION SUMMARY
RIVERFRONT LIBRARY

_audiobook
_biography
_express

0.0%
-0.1%
-0.1%

Circulation Profile:

_fiction
_foreign_lang
_juv_audiobook
_juv_fiction
_juv_foreign
_juv_movie
_juv_nonfiction
_magazine
_movie
_music
_new_book
_nonfiction
_ya_av
_ya_fiction
_ya_nonfiction

-0.1%
0.1%
0.0%
7.0%
0.5%
0.0%
-0.4%
0.0%
-4.3%
-2.2%
0.6%
0.3%
0.2%
-1.3%
-0.2%

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug
Present 12 Month Period Previous 12 Month Period



37 
 

 
  

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug
Present 12 month period 23465 24222 22784 21942 23275 21673 23520 22117 21891 21251 25726 24363
Previous 12 month period 23781 23516 23116 23009 24664 24696 25403 24438 22587 22746 27816 26554

-1.3% 3.0% -1.4% -4.6% -5.6% -12.2% -7.4% -9.5% -3.1% -6.6% -7.5% -8.3%

Aug-24 Aug-25 Aug-24 Aug-25
_audiobook 236 187 -49 -20.8% 0.9% 0.8%
_biography 355 275 -80 -22.5% 1.3% 1.1%
_express 66 58 -8 -12.1% 0.2% 0.2%
_fiction 4099 3742 -357 -8.7% 15.4% 15.4%
_foreign_lang 145 119 -26 -17.9% 0.5% 0.5%
_juv_audiobook 74 50 -24 -32.4% 0.3% 0.2%
_juv_fiction 9426 9048 -378 -4.0% 35.5% 37.1%
_juv_foreign 137 171 34 24.8% 0.5% 0.7%
_juv_movie 643 565 -78 -12.1% 2.4% 2.3%
_juv_nonfiction 1723 1050 -673 -39.1% 6.5% 4.3%
_magazine 46 54 8 17.4% 0.2% 0.2%
_movie 3184 2937 -247 -7.8% 12.0% 12.1%
_music 1022 1014 -8 -0.8% 3.8% 4.2%
_new_book 1459 1665 206 14.1% 5.5% 6.8%
_nonfiction 2708 2300 -408 -15.1% 10.2% 9.4%
_ya_av 70 60 -10 -14.3% 0.3% 0.2%
_ya_fiction 813 800 -13 -1.6% 3.1% 3.3%
_ya-nonfiction 218 155 -63 -28.9% 0.8% 0.6%

CIRCULATION SUMMARY
GRINTON I. WILL LIBRARY

Circulation Profile:
_audiobook
_biography

-0.1%
-0.2%

_express
_fiction
_foreign_lang
_juv_audiobook
_juv_fiction

_ya_av
_ya_fiction

_juv_foreign
_juv_movie
_juv_nonfiction
_magazine
_movie

1.3%
-0.8%

_music
_new_book
_nonfiction

_ya-nonfiction

0.0%
-0.1%
-0.1%

0.0%
0.2%
-0.2%

-0.1%
1.6%
0.2%
-0.1%
-2.2%
0.0%
0.1%
0.3%

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Present 12 month period Previous 12 month period



38 
 

  

Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25
Present 12 Month Period 5070 5763 5805 5071 5608 5301 5968 5250 5381 5266 5449 5334
Previous 12 Month Period 4138 4637 4381 4245 5178 5017 5223 5001 4577 5127 5015 5526

22.5% 24.3% 32.5% 19.5% 8.3% 5.7% 14.3% 5.0% 17.6% 2.7% 8.7% -3.5%

Aug-24 Aug-25 Aug-24 Aug-25
_audiobook 29 15 -14 -48.3% 0.5% 0.3%
_biography 133 82 -51 -38.3% 2.4% 1.5%
_express 18 3 -15 -83.3% 0.3% 0.1%
_fiction 1184 1181 -3 -0.3% 21.4% 22.1%
_foreign_lang 10 5 -5 -50.0% 0.2% 0.1%
_juv_audiobook 8 13 5 62.5% 0.1% 0.2%
_juv_fiction 1760 1804 44 2.5% 31.8% 33.8%
_juv_foreign 11 10 -1 -9.1% 0.2% 0.2%
_juv_movie 195 144 -51 -26.2% 3.5% 2.7%
_juv_nonfiction 317 351 34 10.7% 5.7% 6.6%
_magazine 57 59 2 3.5% 1.0% 1.1%
_movie 316 215 -101 -32.0% 5.7% 4.0%
_music 70 72 2 2.9% 1.3% 1.3%
_nonfiction 623 646 23 3.7% 11.3% 12.1%
_new_book 457 452 -5 -1.1% 8.3% 8.5%
_ya_av 60 20 -40 -66.7% 1.1% 0.4%
_ya_fiction 211 190 -21 -10.0% 3.8% 3.6%
_ya_nonfiction 44 34 -10 -22.7% 0.8% 0.6%

CIRCULATION SUMMARY
CRESTWOOD LIBRARY

Circulation Profile:
-0.2%
-0.9%
-0.3%
0.7%
-0.1%
0.1%
2.0%

-0.7%
-0.3%

0.0%
-0.8%
0.8%
0.1%
-1.7%

_music
_nonfiction
_new_book

0.1%
0.8%
0.2%

_ya_av
_ya_fiction
_ya_nonfiction -0.2%

_audiobook
_biography
_express
_fiction
_foreign_lang
_juv_audiobook
_juv_fiction
_juv_foreign
_juv_movie
_juv_nonfiction
_magazine
_movie

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25
Present 12 Month Period Previous 12 Month Period



39 
 

ELECTRONIC RESOURCES SUMMARY 
 

OverDrive Circulation 

Hoopla Circulation 

  

Adult 
Fiction

Adult 
Non-Fiction

Juvenile 
Fiction

Juvenile 
Non-Fiction

Y/A 
Fiction

Y/A 
Non-Fiction Magazine TOTAL

Jul-24 6925 1701 833 63 632 18 1493 11665
Aug-24 7004 1920 1018 108 644 20 1448 12162
Sep-24 6589 1652 778 73 589 18 1702 11401
Oct-24 6768 1801 742 68 581 13 1845 11818
Nov-24 6545 1782 700 50 579 19 1962 11637
Dec-24 6836 1864 647 88 562 16 2031 12044
Jan-25 7605 2121 754 76 681 18 2540 13795
Feb-25 6935 1789 729 86 615 17 2439 12610
Mar-25 7629 1892 751 73 714 27 2728 13814
Apr-25 7354 1731 783 47 726 24 2464 13129

May-25 7736 1812 706 41 696 25 2571 13587
Jun-25 7708 1790 891 64 663 19 2661 13796
Jul-25 8164 1813 902 61 641 14 2599 14194

Aug-25 8553 1955 892 66 730 13 2943 15152

Audiobook Comic eBook Movie Music Television Binge Pass Total

Jul-24 1142 165 667 203 86 133 28 2424

Aug-24 1215 164 706 242 117 139 23 2606

Sep-24 1205 140 727 195 128 158 29 2582

Oct-24 1303 163 752 249 132 174 36 2809

Nov-24 1339 160 795 275 107 130 36 2842

Dec-24 1518 168 756 282 97 145 172 3138

Jan-25 1639 209 839 230 97 170 352 3536

Feb-25 1557 177 854 331 129 177 145 3370

Mar-25 1782 212 824 290 102 187 246 3643

Apr-25 1706 187 689 278 98 159 250 3367

May-25 1727 193 848 291 121 252 543 3975

Jun-25 1628 199 744 332 127 209 273 3512

Jul-25 1736 212 863 284 131 169 719 4114

Aug-25 1808 239 896 306 138 240 409 4036



40 
 

BOOK STOCK 

JULY 2025 

 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month         165,308  

Number of volumes added this month 535  

TOTAL         165,843  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month                1,996                            

TOTAL VOLUMES RIVERFRONT LIBRARY         165,847   162,044 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month        172,136  

Number of volumes added this month             534            

TOTA L         172,670  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month                  808  

TOTAL VOLUMES GRINTON I. WILL BRANCH         171,862   166,838 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month           36,787  

Number of volumes added this month               201            

TOTAL           36,988  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month 34                     

TOTAL CRESTWOOD BRANCH           36,954     32,608 

 

TOTAL VOLUMES IN YONKERS PUBLIC LIBRARY        372,663 
 

  362,490 

 

  

RIVERFRONT LIBRARY                    2025           2024
     2003 
 
 

GRINTON I. WILL BRANCH          
 
 

CRESTWOOD BRANCH        
 
 



41 
 

BOOK STOCK 

AUGUST 2025 

 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month         163,847  

Number of volumes added this month 545  

TOTAL         164,392  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month                990                            

TOTAL VOLUMES RIVERFRONT LIBRARY         163,402   162,151 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month        171,862  

Number of volumes added this month             786            

TOTA L         172,648  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month                  298  

TOTAL VOLUMES GRINTON I. WILL BRANCH         172,350   167,062 

 

Number of volumes at end of previous month           36,954  

Number of volumes added this month               408            

TOTAL           37,362  

Number of volumes lost/withdrawn this month 63                     

TOTAL CRESTWOOD BRANCH           37,299     33,769 

 

TOTAL VOLUMES IN YONKERS PUBLIC LIBRARY        373,051 
 

  362,982 

 

  

RIVERFRONT LIBRARY                    2025           2024
     2003 
 
 

GRINTON I. WILL BRANCH          
 
 

CRESTWOOD BRANCH        
 
 



42 
 

  



43 
 

  



44 
 

  



45 
 

  



46 
 

  



47 
 

  



48 
 

SECTION 273-A 

State aid for library construction 

 
Education (EDN) CHAPTER 16, TITLE 1, ARTICLE 5, PART 2 

 

§ 273-a. State aid for library construction. 1. State aid shall be provided for up to fifty percent of the 
total project approved costs, excluding feasibility studies, plans or similar activities, for projects for the 
installation and infrastructure of broadband services, and for the acquisition of vacant land and the 
acquisition, construction, renovation or rehabilitation, including leasehold improvements, of buildings of 
public libraries and library systems chartered by the regents of the state of New York or established by 
act of the legislature subject to the limitations provided in subdivision six of this section and upon 
approval by the commissioner, except that state aid may be provided for up to ninety percent of the 
total project approved costs for buildings of public libraries that are located in an economically 
disadvantaged community. Provided however that the state liability for aid paid pursuant to this section 
shall be limited to funds appropriated for such purpose. Aid shall be provided on approved expenses 
incurred during the period commencing July first and ending June thirtieth for up to six years, or until 
the project is completed, whichever occurs first. Fifty percent of such aid shall be payable to each 
system or library upon approval of the application by the department. Forty percent of such aid shall be 
payable in the next state fiscal year. The remaining ten percent shall be payable upon project 
completion. 

 

2. Each single building project application for state aid shall be submitted by the board of trustees of 
the library or library system responsible for the operation of the subject building to the commissioner 
for the commissioner's review and approval, after having been reviewed and approved by the 
governing board of the public library system of which such library is a member. Each single building 
project application shall: 

a. demonstrate that resources are or shall be available to provide for maximum utilization of the 
project if approved; 

b. contain verification in such form as may be acceptable to the commissioner that the total cost 
of the project, exclusive of state aid, has been or will be obtained; 

c. demonstrate that library operations would be made more economical as a consequence of 
approval; 

d. be limited to one project concerning such building, provided that no building shall be the 
subject of more than one single building project application per year; 

e. contain documentation, where such an application requests state aid in an amount greater 
than seventy-five percent, demonstrating how the project will address the service needs of one 
or more economically disadvantaged communities. Such documentation may demonstrate need 
through poverty rates, concentrations of English language learners, low high school graduation 
rates, limited fiscal capacity or other relevant factors; and 



49 
 

f. provide such other information as may be required by the commissioner. 

 

3. Coordinated applications for state aid allocated under paragraph b of subdivision six of this section 
shall be submitted by the public library system. The public library system shall be responsible for 
managing all coordinated projects. Each coordinated project application shall be approved by the board 
of trustees of each participating library and library system responsible for the operation of the said 
buildings. Coordinated project applications shall be submitted to the commissioner for the 
commissioner's review and approval, after having been reviewed and approved by the governing board 
of the public library system of which such libraries are members. Each coordinated project application 
shall: 

a. demonstrate that resources are or shall be available to provide for maximum utilization of the 
project if approved; 

b. contain verification in such form as may be acceptable to the commissioner that the total cost 
of the project, exclusive of state aid, has been or will be obtained; 

c. demonstrate that library operations would be made more economical as a consequence of 
approval; 

d. provide that no one building shall be the subject of more than one coordinated project 
application per year; 

e. contain documentation, where such an application requests state aid in an amount greater 
than seventy-five percent, demonstrating how the project will address the service needs of one 
or more economically disadvantaged communities. Such documentation may demonstrate need 
through poverty rates, concentrations of English language learners, low high school graduation 
rates, limited fiscal capacity or other relevant factors; and 

f. provide such other information as may be required by the commissioner. 

 

4. In approving any single or coordinated building project application that would receive state aid 
beyond seventy-five percent of the total project approved costs, the board of trustees of the library 
system shall give particular attention to addressing the library service needs of economically 
disadvantaged communities as provided for in paragraph e of subdivision two of this section or 
paragraph e of subdivision three of this section, as applicable. 

 

5. In approving any new single building or coordinated project application the commissioner shall 
consider the condition of existing libraries and, where appropriate, the needs of isolated or 
economically disadvantaged communities, provided that no application shall be approved for a project 
that is deemed by the commissioner to have been completed prior to the date of the application. 

 

6. Aid shall be distributed pursuant to this section as follows: 

a. sixty percent of the funds appropriated pursuant to this section shall be made available to 
libraries within each system by the commissioner in such manner as to insure that the ratio of 



50 
 

the amount received within each system to the whole of the aid made available pursuant to this 
paragraph is no greater than the ratio of the population served by such system to the population 
of the state; 

b. forty percent of the funds appropriated pursuant to this section shall be made available to 
library systems or libraries within each system by the commissioner in such manner as to insure 
that an equal amount is received within each system in the state; 

c. any funds made available pursuant to paragraph a or b of this subdivision which by April first 
of each succeeding fiscal year, are declined by such libraries or library systems for any reason, 
or which cannot otherwise be used by such libraries or library systems for any reason, shall be 
made available by the commissioner to other eligible libraries within such system, or if no such 
library can use such funds shall be reallocated among the other library systems and their 
libraries in a manner that will to the extent possible provide from such reallocated funds an equal 
amount to each such system. 

 

7. The commissioner shall adopt rules and regulations as are necessary to carry out the purposes and 
provisions of this section. 

 

8. The commissioner shall submit to the temporary president of the senate and the speaker of the 
assembly an annual report describing those projects that have received state funding of greater than 
fifty percent of project costs and the communities to be served by those projects. 

  



51 
 

Section 90.12. State Aid for Library Construction 

 
(a) Definitions. 

 

As used in this section and in Education Law § 273-a: 

 

(1) Library means public, free association and Indian libraries, as defined in section 253 of the 
Education Law, which are members of public library systems. 

(2) Library system means a public library system, as defined in subdivision 1 of section 272 of 
the Education Law. 

(3) Library service area means the chartered service area of a public, free association or Indian 
library as stated on charter documents approved by the Board of Regents and on file at the 
department. For the purposes of this section, the phrase “and environs” or its equivalent as 
contained in any charter document will not be recognized by the commissioner as a valid part of 
a library service area. For the purposes of this section, areas served by the library under 
contract will not be recognized by the commissioner as a valid part of a library service area. 

(4) Library construction means: 

(i) the construction or acquisition of a building for library purposes, including construction 
of a building for library purposes pursuant to a lease-purchase agreement; or 

(ii) the renovation or rehabilitation of a building already owned by a library; or 

(iii) renovation or rehabilitation of a building to be leased for library purposes for a 
minimum of ten (10) years, including renovation or rehabilitation of a building for library 
purposes pursuant to a lease-purchase agreement. 

(5) Acquisition means the purchase of a site for library purposes and/or an existing building 
suitable for conversion to library purposes. 

(6) Renovation means the overall improvement or conversion of an existing building, exclusive of 
routine maintenance, resulting in increased operational efficiency and economy. 

(7) Rehabilitation means the restoration of an existing library building, exclusive of routine 
maintenance, with particular emphasis on energy conservation, accommodation for computer 
equipment, or access by persons with disabilities. 

(8) Broadband library services means providing a high speed internet connection for library 
users, including but not limited to internal and external connections, at a minimum speed 
prescribed by the commissioner using such means as wireless, fiber, cable, white space and 
similar products. 

(9) Economically disadvantaged means that the library building that will be the subject of a 
project application is located in a community that meets a set of criteria as determined by the 



52 
 

library system in accordance with Education Law § 273-a (2)(e) and that the project is therefore 
eligible for aid of up to ninety percent (90%) of the total project costs. 

(10) Coordinated application means an application submitted by a public library system on behalf 
of two or more libraries for one specific type of project, such as broadband, infrastructure, 
generators or energy efficient lighting. Coordinated projects where no library building locations 
serve an economically disadvantaged community shall be eligible for State aid of up to fifty 
percent (50%) of the total project costs. Coordinated projects where one or more library 
buildings serve a disadvantaged community shall be eligible for State aid of up to ninety percent 
(90%) of the total project costs. 

(11) Single building project means a project for an individual physical location of a public or 
association library and excludes public library system buildings. 

 

 

(b) Application procedures. 

 

(1) Each public library system shall submit to the commissioner, no later than a prescribed date, 
as part of a plan of service, a plan by which it will accept, review, and make recommendations 
on applications as required by Education Law, section 273-a(2). 

(2) When the applicant is a library, the governing board of the system of which it is a member 
shall indicate to the commissioner its approval of such application by stating the extent to which 
the project for which State aid is requested will assist the applicant to provide more effective 
service within the system's standards of organization and service. 

(3) When the applicant is a library system, the application shall describe how the State-aided 
project will improve system services to member libraries and users. 

(4) The library system board shall rank the applications from its system area in order of its 
recommendations, giving particular attention to the service needs of any communities which are 
geographically isolated, economically disadvantaged, or located beyond the reasonable service 
capabilities of other libraries which are members of such library system. 

(5) The library system board, upon request by the commissioner, shall provide the eligibility 
criteria for applications designated as projects serving economically disadvantaged communities 
pursuant to Education Law section 273-a(2)(e) for each recommended application. Such 
documentation may demonstrate eligibility through poverty rates, concentrations of English 
language learners, low high school graduation rates, limited fiscal capacity or other relevant 
factors as approved by the commissioner. 

(6) The library system board shall determine the amount of State aid that will be allocated for 
each single building project application. 

(7) Coordinated applications must be submitted by the library system in accordance with the 
provision of Education Law § 273-a (3). The public library system shall be responsible for 
managing all coordinated projects. Each coordinated project application shall be approved by 
the board of trustees of each participating library as well as the board of trustees of the library 



53 
 

system. No one building may be the subject of more than one coordinated project application 
per year. 

 

 

(c) Content of applications. Each application shall assure that: 

 

(1) when the construction project is completed, adequate operating support and resources will 
be available to sustain an improved level of service as reflected by the schedule of library open 
hours, the number of professional and nonprofessional staff needed to provide such service, and 
the upgrading of the inventory of all types of library materials; 

(2) the library share of the cost of the project must be available or have been otherwise 
committed to the project; 

(3) the project has been started or will begin within 180 days after approval by the commissioner 
and will be completed promptly and in accordance with the application; 

(4) the approved project will be conducted in accordance with all applicable Federal, State and 
local laws and regulations; 

(5) the project has not been completed prior to the date of application to the library system; 

(6) where required by law, competitive bidding procedures will be followed; and 

(7) the premises constructed, acquired, renovated, rehabilitated or leased will be usable for 
library purposes for at least 10 years from completion of the project. 

 

 

(d) Criteria for approval of an application. Approval of construction project applications will be based in 
part upon the degree to which each project will result in: 

 

(1) more effective library service to the library's service area, as evidenced by new library 
programs and user accommodations resulting from the increased and improved building space 
and capacity; 

(2) more efficient utilization of the library building, resulting in such economies as increased 
energy conservation and increased staff efficiency; 

(3) improved access to and use of building services by all library users, including persons with 
physical disabilities; 

(4) the provision of library services in communities which are geographically isolated or 
economically disadvantaged; and 

(5) the satisfaction of such other criteria as the commissioner may deem appropriate. 

 



54 
 

 

(e) Costs. Pursuant to Education Law, section 273-a: 

 

(1) Costs eligible for approval shall include: 

(i) construction or acquisition of a library building; 

(ii) renovation or rehabilitation of a library building; 

(iii) renovation or rehabilitation of leased property to be used for library purposes; 

(iv) acquisition of vacant land to be used for library purposes; 

(v) purchase and installation of initial equipment and furnishings as a project component 
of subparagraph (i), (ii) or (iii) of this paragraph; 

(vi) purchase, installation and replacement of a library building's broadband services 
infrastructure, including but not limited to internal and external connections, either as a 
stand-alone project or as a project component of subparagraph (i), (ii) or (iii) of this 
paragraph; 

(vii) site preparation and grading as a project component of subparagraph (i), (ii), (iii) or 
(iv) of this paragraph; 

(viii) replacement of a library building's mechanicals, including, but not limited to, heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning, cooling, electrical, and plumbing systems; 

(ix) replacement of permanent components of a library building, including, but not limited 
to, windows, doors, roofs, and lighting systems; 

(x) purchase and installation of permanent signage (with or without lighting, internal or 
external), which is used for library purposes; 

(xi) purchase and installation of one or more generators for library purposes; 

(xii) purchase and installation of assistive listening devices and systems for the deaf and 
hearing impaired, which shall include but not be limited to, hearing loops, FM systems and 
infrared systems; and 

(xiii) project management of the construction, renovation, rehabilitation or broadband 
library services infrastructure project, exclusive of salaries, benefits, or other in-house 
personnel costs; 

(xiv) architectural and engineering plans for locally approved new or ongoing projects; 

(xv) purchase and installation or construction of permanent components of a library 
building, including devices or systems to increase energy efficiency and energy 
conservation for library purposes, exclusive of any add-on warranties or recurring service 
or maintenance costs; 

(xvi) in accordance with i, ii and iii above, construction of an outbuilding, when that 
building is built onsite or when a permanent foundation or base is added beneath the 
outbuilding that was constructed off-site; 



55 
 

(xvii) such other costs as may be approved by the commissioner. 

(2) The following costs are not eligible for State aid funds, but may be included in a project 
application and paid from the library's share of the total project costs: 

(i) ongoing service fees for telecommunications and broadband services, including but 
not limited to, help-desk services, training costs, or any other cost incurred after 
installation; 

(ii) software licensing; 

(iii) flooring and/or carpeting when not part of a larger construction project in that same 
room of the library; 

(iv) lease payments of any kind; 

(v) interest or debt retirement; and 

(vi) furniture when not part of a much larger construction project in the same room or 
rooms of the library and in the same project number.  

(3) The following costs are not eligible for State aid for Library construction, regardless of 
whether such project costs will be paid with State aid funds, or the library's share of the total 
project costs: 

(i) speculative architectural and engineering plans and feasibility studies; 

(ii) building consultant studies; 

(iii) interest or carrying charges on bonds financing the project; 

(iv) purchase of books and other library materials; 

(v) repairs incidental to larger construction activities; 

(vi) landscaping that is not a project component of subparagraph (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) of 
paragraph (1) of this subdivision; and 

(vii) routine repair and maintenance. 

 

 

(f) Schedule of payment of State aid for library construction: 

 

(1) Fifty-percent payment of awarded State aid for approved costs of the project will be made 
after notification of applicant by the commissioner of approval for funding. 

(2) Forty percent (40%) of such aid shall be payable in the State fiscal year following the year in 
which State funding was first provided in the State's enacted budget. 

(3) The ten percent (10%) final payment will be made after submission and approval of 
satisfactory evidence that the project has been completed in accordance with the terms of the 



56 
 

approved application. The commissioner will determine if the evidence submitted is satisfactory 
and approvable. 

 

 

(g) Reports. The following reports shall be made to the commissioner on the forms and by the dates 
prescribed by the commissioner: 

 

(1) Each recipient of State aid pursuant to Education Law, section 273-a, shall report on the 
status of the approved project, including a final cost report. 

(2) Upon request by the Commissioner, a library system board shall report on the anticipated 
State aid necessary for eligible projects to be completed in its service area. 

(3) Upon request by the commissioner, a library system board shall submit a report detailing the 
status of each project for which an application was submitted by a member library and not 
recommended for approval, or was submitted but for which no State aid was provided. 

(4) Any other reports the Commissioner shall deem necessary to carry out the purpose of this 
program. 


